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THE HONORABLE JOHN C. COUGHENOUH

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERNDISTRICT OFWASHINGTON
AT SEATTLE

DANIEL FOWLER, CASE NO.C19-0208JCC

Plaintiff, ORDER
V.

SAN JUAN COUNTYetal.,

Defendans.

This matter comes before the Courtl@defendand’” motion forsummary jidgment (Dkt.
No. 17). Having thoroughly considered the parties’ briefing and the relevant réwof@owrt
finds oral argument unnecessary and hef@BANTS in @rtand DENIES in part the motion
for the reasons explained herein.
l. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff Daniel Fowlets rdationship withHolly Dennis,his girlfriend was turbulent at
timesand resulted iseveralcontacts with San Juan County law enforcement officBesejkt.
No. 22 at 1.OnNovember25, 2014, after Dennis broke up with PlaintidgfendanDeputy
Sheriff Raymond Harvey respondedatpair 0f911 calk in which Dennidirst requested
welfare check oPlaintiff andthenreportedthat Plaintiff refugdto release Dennis’s vehicle
from his automotive shopDkt. No. 19 at 2, 29.) On August 14, 20Hter Dennis asked
Plaintiff to move out of her homehe calle®11 toreportPlaintiff wasbehavingn anenraged
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mannertowards hershe later reportelde had vandalized her propertld. @t 3) Defendant
Harveyinvestigatedennis’s reportandarrestedPlaintiff for domestic violence malicious
mischief. (d. at 3-4.) Plaintiff was charged, and the San Juan County District Court eatere(
domestic violaceprotection order, which prohibited Plaintiff from having contact with Denn
(Id. at4.) On August 27, 2013)ennis secured secongrotection order from the Superior Cot
of Washington for San Juan. (Dkt. No. 22 at 1, 8.)

OnDecember 21, 2015, Dennis obtained a modification to the supetidisgrotection
order that terminated the no-contact provisideh. &t 1, 15.) On February 24, 2016, thstrict
courtterminated itgrotection order.I¢l. at 21.)The Sheriff's Officeis routinelyprovidedwith
copies of protectionrders fran the San Juan County District and Washington Superiort€ou
(Dkt. No. 19 at 4.)

On March 1, 2016, Defendant Harvey saw Plaintiff and Desitting together in
Dennis’s parked vehicld€ld.) Defendant Harvewas aware thahe district court had entered
protection orderhe calledhe San Juan County Sheriff's Office dispatch and was erroneous
told the protectioorder was still in placgld.). He ordered Plaintiff and Dennts separate(id.)
Plaintiff was adamant that the distradurt’s protection order had been quashed and showed
Defendant Harvey a comf theorderterminating the district courtisrotection order, but
Plaintiff neverthelessomplied. [d. at4-5.) On March 4, theextdaythat Defendant Harvey
reported to workhecalled dispatch again to clarify the status of the district court’s protectio
order. (d.) This time, dispatchold him that the district coud protection order hathdeedbeen
terminatedbut the superior coustprotection order was still in place apbhibited Plaintiff
from contact with Dennisld. at 5) DefendanHarveycalledPlaintiff and left a voice message
to this efect. Okt. No. 22 at 3.he next day, Plaintiff left a voice messdgeDeferdant
Harveystatingthatthe superior court’s protection order had also bgeashed(ld.)

On March 7Defendant Harvey responded@awn Atkinson’sreport of the presence of

Plaintiff as an unwanted person on a third party’s property. (Dkt. No. 19\&hgnDefendant
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Harveyarrived at the addresAtkinson told him that Plaintiff had been there with Dennis but
had leftand likely returned to his houséd.(at 5-6.) Defendant Harvey called dispatch and wa
onceagain told that the superior casrprotectionorder was in placeld. at 6).Defendant
Harvey along with Deputysheriff David Holland,went to Plaintiff’'sresidence, knocked on the
door, and spoke to Plaintiffid; at 58.) The parties disagree over where the conversation toq
place. While Raintiff maintains that he stoazhlmlyjust inside the threshold of his house with
the door opemDefendant Harvey statéisat Plaintiffcameout on the porclandwas in an
agitated statgSeeDkt. N0s.19 at 6, 58; 22 at ¥Defendant Harvey questied Plaintiff about
Atkinsornis report (Dkt. No. 19 at 58.) Next, Defendant Harvey questioned Plaintiff about hi
contact with Dennis and informed him that the superior court’s protemttar still prohibited

him from contact with Dennis.Id.) Plaintiff insisted that the order was no longer in effddt) (

What happened next &dsoin dispute DefendantHarveymaintains hattempted to place

Plaintiff under arresfor violation of thesuperior court’protectionorder andadvisedPlaintiff to
turn around and place his hands behind his b#th.[fefendant Harvegtates that Plaintiff
walkedfrom the porchbackinto the housand continuedesistingafter DefendanHarveyand
the other officegrabbed him and began applying handcufts) Defendats note that
Defendant Harvey was aware of at least three previous incidents in whidhfffiaoh been
charged or convicted of assault, including one in whiefendanHarvey was the responding
officer. (d. at 2 and 11.pefendanHarveyalsomaintainshe did not know whether Dennisas
present anevas concernethat she could be in danger of harm frolaififf. (1d. at 6.)

Plaintiff maintains that wheBefendanHarveyadvised him that he hadblatedthe
superior court’protectionorder, Plaintiff remained calm, stated that he waetdeve the court
order showing the modification, and turned to go to his bedroom. (Dkt. No. 2Z2Pdaint)ff
states thaas he turned to look for the paperwork, Defendant Haimexpectedly slammeadto
him from behind, shoved him into a wall, brought him to the floor, pulled his left arm, and
shoved it up towards his shoulder bladé. &t 4.)Plaintiff says hdelt a pop and felt something
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breakin his shoulder.l¢l. at 4-5, 26) Plaintiff maintans that he was never given a warning or
informed he was under arredtd.(at 4) Plaintiff's daughter was present and corroborates his
account. $eeDkt. No. 23.)

Defendants do not disputieatwhenDefendant Harvey and the other officestrained
Plaintiff, theygrabbed Plaintiff by the arms, pushed him into a codewnaging his glasses,
forced him face dowonto the floor, and twisted his left arm behind his ba8keDkt. No. 21
at 8;22 at 4 25.)Plaintiff states thaafter cuffing him,DefendanHarveypulledup on the cuffs
againandcausedPlaintiff more pain. Dkt. No. 22at5.)

Defendant Harvey took Plaintiff to the satationto process him for booking (Dkt. No.
19 at 59.Defendant Harvey asketispatch tdax thesuperior cours protection orderl(l.)
Dispatch informed him that when they pulled the order from the fidnagver they found an
amendmenstapled to the badkateliminated the no-contact provisiord( The amendment to
theprotection order had not been logged in the dispatch computer syistgefendant
Harveycontactedefendant Sheriff Ronalldrebs, who agreethatPlaintiff should be released
(Id.) Defendant Harvegpologizedor the miscommunicatioand release®Ilaintiff. (Id.)

Plaintiff hashad persistent pain following his arrest. (Dkt. No. 22 aP&intiff states
that hisshoulder was seriously injured and required extensive surdgergt $—6.) Plaintiff's
shoulder condition has caused him financial hardship becausenteised his ability tavork
as a mechanic, drive heavy equipment, or work with firewdddat 6.)Defendans disputehe
extentof Plaintiff's shoulder injury and point to evidence showing thatdx a preexisting
degenerative joint condition that may have required surgery even without an (DkiryNo. 26
at 4, 6.) Defendants also point to Defendant Harvey's arrest report, sthtek that Plaintiff
saidhis left shoulder hutbecause oh preexisting condition. (Dkt. No. 19 at 59.)

Plaintiff brings the following causes of action against Defend@htsirrest without
probable cause in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1.9&3 excessiveise offorcein violation of 42
U.S.C. § 1983(3) municipal liability for violations oPlaintiff’'s Fourth Amendment righin
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violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983; (4) negligence; (5) outrage; and (6) tre5faks.No. 7 at 15—
19) Defendarg movefor summary judgment dismissing all BRaintiff's claims. (Dkt. No. 17.)
. DISCUSSION

A. Summary Judgment Standard

“The court shall gnat summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuit
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter BétavR.
Civ. P. 56(a). In making such a determination, the Court must view the facts andojastifia
inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmovingApatéyson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc.477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986). Once a motion for summary judgment is pro
made and supported, the opposing party “must come forwardspéhific facts showing that

there is a genuine issue for trialMatsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co45 U.S.

574, 587 (1986) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)). Material facts are those that may affect the

outcome of the case, and a dispute about a material fact is genuine if thereienseffidence
for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for te-moving party Anderson477 U.S. at 248-49
Conclusory, norspecific statements in affidavits are not sufficient, and “missing facts” will 1
be “presumed.Lujan v. National Wildlifd~ed'n, 497 U.S. 871, 888—89 (1990). Ultimately,
summary judgment igppropriate against a party who “fails to make a showing sufficient to
establish the existence of an element essential to that party’s case, and ohattpalty will
bear the burden of proof at trialCelotex Corp. vCatlett 477 U.S. 317, 324 (1986).

B. Defendant Harvey

To state & 1983claim, a plaintiff must allegé(1) a violation of rights protected by the
Constitution or created by federal statute, (2) proximately caused (8ndyat of a ‘person’
(4) acting under color of state la&wCrumptonv. Gates947 F.2d 1418, 1420 (9th Cir. 1991).

I

! Plaintiff concedes that his state law claims for assault, battery, and falssoinnpent are
time-barredpursuant to Wash. Rev. Code § 4.16.1008¢eDkt. No. 21 at 23.)
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A warrantless arrest, which constitutes a “seizure,” is “unreasonable” and thus
unconstitutional if it is not supported by probable cause— “the facts and circumstances
within [the arresting offices] knowledge are [not] sufficient for a reasonably prudent person
believe that the suspect has committed a ctiResenbaum v. Washa@zty., 663 F.3d 1071,
1076 (9th Cir. 2011). Thus, to prevail on a 8§ 18B8m for false arrest, a plaintiff must
demonstrate thabased on the facts known to the officer at the time of the arrest, there wag
probable cause to arrdstn. Norse v. City of Santa Cru@29 F.3d 966, 978 (9th Cir. 2010).
“Protection orders, like warrants, are not stamped from a sieglplate’ Beier v. City of
Lewiston 354 F.3d 1058, 1069 (9th Cir. 2004)aw enforcenent officers who act to
enforce. . . a protection order therefore have a responsibility to familiarize thesaseith the
order’s precise contents through some ddfisource.’ld.

1. Probable Cause and Wrongful Arrest

Plaintiff alleges his arrest violated Hsurth Amendment right to be free from
unreasonable seizibecause Defendant Harvey lacked probable ¢awmeest him for violation
of the superior court’srptectionorder. (Dkt. No. 21). Construing the fagtghe light most
favorable taPlaintiff, Defendant Harvewas aware of the following factgl) DefendanHarvey
had arrested Plaintiff for domestic violence malicious mischief against Dienfigyust 2015
(2) the district court had entered a protectioderprohibiting Plaintiff's contact with Dennis;
(3) on March 4dispatch admittetb DefendanHarveythatthey had made an error when they
told himthe district ourts protection ordewas still in place(4) also on March 4, dispatch
statedio Defendant Harvethatthe superior court’rotectionorderwas stillin place;(5) on
March 5,Plaintiff left a voicemail foDefendanHarvey statinghat the superior coust
protectionorderwas likewise no longer in effeq) on March 7, Atkinson informed Defendar
Harvey that she had seen Plaintiff with Den(ir3;also on March Mispatch reiterated that the
superior cours protectionorder was still in effect{8) whenDefendanHarvey arrivecdat
Plaintiff's house and spoke to him, Plaintiff did not deny his contact with Dennis bed tstat
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the superior cour protection order no longer prohibitedaintiff's contact with Dennis See
Dkt. No. 10 at 3-6, 5152.)

Based on the factsvailableto Defendant Harvey, there wsfficientbasisfor a prudent
officer to reasonably believthat probale cause existetb arrest Plaintiff for violation athe
superior court'grotectionorder.Defendant Harvey made multiple attempts to verify the
contents of the protection orders against Plaintiff through an official source, and i cidigd
that probable cause existed after dispatch (erroneously) confirmed that thersuqet’s
protection order was still in place. (Dkt. No. 19 at 6, 58.) Althdbgfendant Harvey was faceg
with conflicting information from dispatch arRlaintiff, it was reasonablender the
circumstanceto relyon dispatch, aofficial source. A police officer who does not personally
read [aprotection] order . . . may fulfill his duty by obtaining information from authorized
personnel—such as a supervisor or police dispatchie-have access to the terms of the
order’ Beier, 354 F.3dat 1069. AlthougiDefendant Harveltnew dispatch had made at least
one priorerror, that was not enough to make it unreasonable for himave reliecon this
official channel of information instead Blaintiff's assertionFurthermorepnce Defendant
Harveybelieved there wagrobable cause iadicatePlaintiff had violated g@rotectionorder,he
was required to arreBaintiff for this offenseSeeWash. Rev. Code 88 10.99.055,
10.31.100(2)(a). Thus, Defendant Harvey possessed sufficient information to form an dijg
reasonable belief that there was probable cause td Blaastiff. Accordingly, Defendants’
motion forsummary judgment IGRANTED as to this claim.

2. lilegal Entry

Plaintiff also claims his arrest was illegal because Defendant Harvey ehigtemne
without a warrant. (Dkt. 21 at 10-11W\jhile a warrantless arrest in a public place does not
violate the Fourth Amendment, such an armeatleinside an individual’'s home is presumptive
unreasonable, absent exigent circumstarieagton v. New Yorld45 U.S. 573, 590 (1980pn
the other hand, if a suspect freely opens his door to police, he “voluntarily exposajslf hom
ORDER

C19-0208JCC
PAGE- 7

ctive

ly




© 00O N o o A W N P

NN NN NN R R R R R R R R R R
OO 00 N N -, OO 00 N oY 010NN 0 N -RE O

warrantless arrest,” regardless of whether he stands inside or outsitiesh®ld of his home.
United States v. Vaneato#9 F.3d 1423, 1426 (9th Cir. 1995) (quotingited States v. Johnspi
626 F.2d 753, 757 (9th Cir. 1980

The parties disputehether Defendant Harveyrested Plaintifbn his porch or inside hi
home. GeeDkt. Nos. 17 at 9; 21 at 1(But even ifPlaintiff had remained inside the threshold
his home throughout the encounter, his Fourth Amendnggdiis were not violated because he
voluntarily opened the door of his dwelling in response to a noncoercive knock by the e
Vaneaton49 F.3d at 1426. Thus, Defendants’ motion for summary judgim&RANTED as
to this claim

3. Excessive Use of Force

In determining whether a poéofficer’'s use of force is unreasonahilee Courtbalancs
“the nature and quality of the intrusion on the individual’'s Fourth Amendment interesitsstag
the governmental interests at stakeaham v. Connqr490 U.S. 386, 396 (1989) (quoting
Tennessee v. Garnet71 U.S. 1, 8 (198%)The surrounding circumstances must be judged
objectively from the perspective of a reasonable officer on the doepnde v. Rtherford, 272
F.3d 1272, 1279 (9th Cir. 2001). To evaluate the goverrahaterest, theCourt looks to the
“severity of the crime at issue, whether the suspect poses an immediate ttireaatiety of the
officers or others, and whether he is activelyisting arrest or attempting to evade arrest by
flight.” Graham 490 U.Sat 396.Because the balancing of these factors “nearly always requ
a jury to sift through disputed factual contentions, and to draw inferencesdaheref. summaryf
judgment [ in excessive force cases should be granted sparir@bes v. Eagle704 F.3d 624,
628 (9th Cir. 2012) (quotin§antos v. Gate287 F.3d 846, 853 (9th Cir. 2002).

Drawing allreasonablénferences in favor of Plaintiff, this Court concludes that a
reasonable jury could find thddefendanHarvey applied excessive forCEhedegree of

intrusion on Plaintifs interestavas significantSeeGraham 490 U.S. at 39@efendant Harvey

and Deputy Sheriff Holland grabbé&diaintiff, shoved him forcefully into the wall, slammed him
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to the floor, and wrenched his arm until something broke or poppedIeftrssoulder. (Dkt.
Nos. 22 at 4; 23 at 2—3.) This intrusion must be balanced against the govatmmerestunder
the threeGrahamfactors SeeGraham 490 U.S. at 396-irst, Plaintiff was suspected of
violating a domestic violence protectiorder,a misdemeanor crim&ut one that requires arreg
(Dkt. No. 19 at § SecondDefendantsarguethat Plaintiff was potentiallg dange to the
arrestingofficers or otherdecause of his prior history of assaults and the possibility that De
was present and in danger. (Dkt. No. 17 a} Thesetwo safetyconsiderations, however, must|
be balanced againste fact that Plaintiff waanarmed and calm, he had been previously
compliant in his interactions with Defendant Harvey, and Dennis was nowhere tmb(see
Dkt. Nos. 19at 4-5; 22 at 4 Third, Plaintiff has submittedvidence that that he calmly told thg
officers he was going to retrieve his paperwdhlen turned toward his bedroobgforethe
officers forciblyrestraired him. (SeeDkt. No. 22 at 4 The appropriateness of the force
Defendant Harveysed hinges on disputed questions of fact, includingwvfiether Plaintiff was
agitated; (2 whether Plaintiff hadilreadybeenplaced under arresind ordered to place his
hands behind his baci) whetherPlaintiff “fled” or merelystepped inside his hom)
whetherPlaintiff resisted the officergind, crucially(5) what degree of force Defendant Harve
applied to PlaintiffOn balance, easonablgury couldconcludethatDefendant Harvey's usa
force was excessiue restraima calm, unarmed individual suspected of violating a protectior
order where the officer had not yet placed the suspect underardesthere the subject of the
protection order was nowhere to be s&seGraham 490 U.S. at 396. Accordingly,
Defendarg’ motion for summary judgmeris DENIED as to thiglaim.2 Because material facts
are in dispute as to the reasonableness of Defendant Harvey's use ddé&ecelantsmotion

for summary judgment on the basisgofalified immunity idikewise DENIED.

2 Defendants argue thgtialified immunity should protect Defendant Harvieym liability
for the excessive use of force claim. (Dkt. 17 at 15.) Because material facts remgnute dis
including what degree of force Defendant Harvey uBedendants have not established that
Defendant Harvey is entitlegualified immunity.
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C. Municipal Liability

To state alaim against a municipal entifgr a constitutional violatiori]a]
plaintiff . . . . must go beyoritherespondeat superiaheoryof liability and demonstrate that th
alleged constitutional deprivation was the product of a policy or custtime ¢tocal
governmental unit.Kirkpatrick v. Cty. of Washo®&43 F.3d 784, 793 (9th Cir. 2016)he
[Supreme] Court has further required that the plaintiff demonstrate that the grotiagtom of a
municipality ‘reflects deliberate indifference to the constitutional rights afltabitants.”
Castro v. Cty. of Los Angele®33 F.3d 1060, 1060 (quotity of Canton v. Harris489 U.S.
378, 392 (1989)).

Plaintiff allegesthatDefendanSan Juan County violated his Fourth Amendment righ
by promulgatingoolicies and customs or ratifying actual practices that caused Plaintiff's
wrongful arrest and Defendant Harvey’s excessive use of force. (Dkt. No. 7 at 15-16, 19—
Plaintiff also allege®efendantSan Juan County failed to properly train its officers on probal
cause and use of force with such deliberate indifference that it vidi&tediff's constitutional
rights. (d. at 19.)Plaintiff's claims against Sheriff Krelfsarefunctionally equivalent to
Plaintiff's claim against San Juan County, the entity of which he is a part, so them@lourt
considerthese claimsogetherSeeHaferv. Melg 502 U.S. 21, 25 (1997holley v. Cal. Dep't
of Corr., 599 F.3d 1108, 1111 (9th Cir. 2010).

I

3 To state & 1983 claim, a plaintiff must allege facts showing how any individusdiyed
defendants caused or personally participated in causing the constitutionaltorgtaolations
alleged in the complain§eeArnold v. IBM 637 F.2d 1350, 1355 (9th Cir. 1981). Although
Plaintiff stateghat Defendant Krebs is being sued in his individual capacity, Pldasff
provided no evidence @efendant Krebs'direct participation in Plaintiff's arrest or the use
of force against PlaintifffSeeDkt. No. 7 at 3; see generallypkt. No. 21.)Nor has Plaintiff
opposed summary judgment on this clai8edDkt. No. 21 at 21-22)he only theory of
liability Plaintiff pursuesagainst Defendarrebs is avionell municipal liability claim.(ld.)
Accordingly, Defendant’smotion forsummary judgientis GRANTED as toclaims against
Defendant Kreb in his individuakapacity.
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1. Probable Caussd Wrongful Arrest

Plaintiff doesnot point to evidence in the record that shows Defendants failed to pro
train officers on matters of probable cause or ratified unconstitutionddyaftefendant Harvey.
(SeegenerallyDkt. Nos. 7, 21.) Indeed, Plaintiff does not pursue this claim in his resp&ese.
Dkt. No. 21.) Furthermordaecaus®efendant Harvey had probable cause to arrest Plaintiff,
Plaintiff's Fourth Amendment rights wermt violated. $ee supr&ectionll.B). Accordingly,
Defendantsimotion for summary judgent is GRANTED as tthis claim.

2. Excessive Use of Force

Plaintiff does not point to evidence in the record that shows Defendants failed to pr
train officers orprocedures for arrest and use of for&edgenerallyDkt. Nos. 7, 21.) Nor doeg
Plantiff offer evidenceo showthat Defendants ratifiednd approved Defendant Harvey’s use
of force (Id.) Indeed, Plaintiff does not pursue this claim in his respoSseDkt. No. 21.)
Accordingly, Defendantsmotion for summary judgment is GRANTED aghis claim

3. RecordKeeping

Plaintiff asserts gheory of municipaliability based onnadequateecordkeeping which
he did not raise in his complain€CgmpareDkt. No. 7with Dkt. No. 21 at 18-21 Rlaintiff
offers evidencashowng thatSan JuarCounty employeesiade multiple errorsg recordkeeping
and relayed inaccurateformationto Defendant Harvegbout the protectioarders.(SeeDkt.
No. 19at 51-52) Plaintiff also presents evidence thegtproximately one year after his arrest,
the SanJuan County prosecutor raised serious concerns about the accuracy of reports fro
San Juan Count$heriff's Office (SeeDkt. No.24 at 4) AlthoughPlaintiff has allegeadn his
complaintthere weresrrorsmaderelaying information about therotection orders, he did not
specifically pleadnadequate recordkeeping as a basis for municipality liabifge (@enerally
Dkt. No. 7.)Plaintiff now requests leave to amend his complaint to putssi¢heory of liability.
(Dkt. No. 21 at 20.)

I
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Amendments to complaints should be freely granted when justice so re§ekees.

Fed.R. Civ. P.15(a)(2) Such amendments should be granted unless they will cause the opposing

party undue prejudic®CD Programs, Ltd. v. Leightoi833 F.2d 183, 186 (9th Cir. 1987).
Discoveryis not scheduled toose untilNovember 20, 2019SgeDkt. No. 16.)Defendants
assert that Plaintiff's request for leave to amend is improper and tha goneehow rendered
moot because, in his response, Plaintiff did not pursuerigmal theory of municipal liability
he asserted in his complainggeDkt. No. 25 at 9.) The Court rejects these argumertierg is
notevidenceof “bad faith, undue delay, prejudice to the opposing party, [or] futility of
amendmeritthat would indiate thatPlaintiff's request for leave to amend is improgeeDCD
Programs, Ltd.833 F.2d at 186. Accordingly, the Court GRANTS Plaintiff leave to amend

complaint toasserta claim for municipal liability based on inadequate redaeping.

D. State Law Claims
1. Outrage

Plaintiff assertgshat Defendant Harvey’s conduct is outrageous under Washington’s
common law definition.$eeDkt. No. 21 at 23.) To state a claim for the tort of outrage unde
Washington law, the conduct mustdidficiently extreme to result in liabilitfpicomes v. State
782 P.2d 1002, 1013 (Wash. 1989). “[M]ere insults and indignities, such as causing
embarrassment or humiliation, will not support imposition of liability on a claim of geitrad.
Rather, the conduct must be “so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degoee, as tg
beyond all possible bounds of decency, and to be regarded as atrocious, and uttedilmiale
a civilized community."Grimsby v. Samso®30 P.2d 291, 295 (Wash. 1975)emd negligence,
or even malice, is insufficient to support a claim of outr&dgaller v. State824 P.2d 1225, 123]
(Wash. Ct. App. 1992).

Here, Plaintiffargues thabefendanHarvey maimed Plaintiff at home, in fibof his
child, without probable cause. (Dkt. No. 21 at i) Defendant Harvey was present at
Plaintiff's homefor a legitimate law enforcement purposeinvestigate two possible crimes.
ORDER
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(Dkt. No. at 6, 57-58.) The information available to Defendant Handdgatedthat Plaintiff

was in violation of a protection order and Defenddatvey was therefore required to arrest.him

(See id); seeWash. Rev. Code 88 10.99.055, 10.31.100(2Xtinost,as discussed above,
Plaintiff can show that Defendant Harvey used excessive iimsiamming Plaintiff into a
corner and onto the ground, conduct which falls far short of outrage under Washington lay
both character and kin@eeGrimsby 530 P.2d at 295. ThuBgefendantsimotion for summary
judgment is GRANTED as to th@daim.
2. Negligence
As tohis state law negligence claim]aintiff observes correctly that it is permissible tg
plead in the alternative that Defendants negligently chbhaem. SeeDkt. No. 21 at 23.But
Plaintiff does not identify the relemtistandard of care, let alone poinfacts thashowthat
Defendants violated ifld.) Accordingly, Defendantsnotion for summary judgment is
GRANTED asthis claim.
3. Trespass
Plaintiff's only argument in support of his trespass claim isDied¢ndanHarvey’'s
intrusion into Plaintiff's home was unreasonabld.)(As discussed abovBefendantHarvey
did not violate PlaintiffS~ourth Amendmentightsby entering and arresting Plaintiff because
Plaintiff had exposed himself to pudbview by answerindnis door.SeesupraSection 11B.
Plaintiff does not point to any state law showing that these actions would coristispiEss
under Washington law. Thus, Defendants’ motiorstammary judgment is GRANTED as this
claim?

I

4 Moreover, even if Plaintiff had presented sufficient evidence to defeat sumrdgrggnt
as tohisnegligence and trespass claims agdie¢ndant Harvey, Defendant Harvey would b
protected from liability by Washington statutory immunity based on his goibdafetions in
attempting to enforce the senor court’s protective ordegeeWash. Rev. Code 88 10.99.055,
10.31.100(2)(a).
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Accordingly, Defendantssummary judgment is GRANTED to Defendants on all statg
claims.
[11.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasori3efendarg’ motion for summary judgment (Dkt. No.)1ig
GRANTED in part and DENIED in parPlaintiff's time-barred state law clainfer assault,
battery, and false imprisonmearte DISMISSED with prejudice. Defendahmotion for
summary judgment is GRANTED asRtaintiff's claims for:(1) arrest without probableause
in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983; (2) negligence}; ¢8trage; ad (4) trespassThose claims are
DISMISSED with prejudice. Defendants’ motion for summary judgment is GRANAS to
Plaintiff's claims formunicipal liability in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 198But this claim is
DISMISSED without prejudiceand with leave tamend to assert a theory of liability premised
oninadequate recorkeeping. Any amended complaint must be filed withirdaysof the date
this order is issued.

DATED this 20th day of September 2019.

|~ 667 s

John C. Coughenour
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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